ORIGINAL

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA

IN THE SUPREME COURT

Certiorari to Richland County

R. Knox McMahon, Circuit Court Judge

RECEIVED

JUL 2 2014

S.C. Supreme Court

STANLEY OLIVER,

PETITIONER,

V.

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA,

RESPONDENT

APPELLATE CASE NO. 2013-002211

PETITION FOR WRIT OF CERTIORARI

KATHRINE H. HUDGINS
Appellate Defender

South Carolina Commission on Indigent Defense
Division of Appellate Defense
PO Box 11589
Columbia, SC 29211-1589
(803) 734-1343

ATTORNEY FOR PETITIONER

ISSUE PRESENTED

Was appellate counsel ineffective in failing to raise on direct appeal the trial judge's admission at trial, over objection and in violation of Bruton, of statements made by a non-testifying jointly tried co-defendant, Dominic Gallman, to his girlfriend, Leticia Jones, implicating Appellant?

STATEMENT

In November of 2005, the Richland County Grand Jury indicted Petitioner Oliver for burglary first degree, kidnapping, three counts of armed robbery and three counts of murder, indictments 2005-GS-40-11411 – 11417, 11582. On December 3, 2007, Petitioner proceeded to jury trial with co-defendants, Dominic Gallman and Kenneth Joy before the Honorable G. Thomas Cooper, Jr. Douglas Strickler and Mary Lafave represented Petitioner. Jonathan Milling represented Gallman. John Delgado represented Joy. John Meadors and David Ross prosecuted the case. At the close of the State's case Judge Cooper granted both Petitioner's and Gallman's motions for a directed verdict of acquittal as to the one count of armed robbery involving Desiree Felder. Judge Cooper directed verdicts of acquittal as to several of co-defendant Joy's accessory charges. The jury acquitted Joy of the remaining accessory charges. The jury acquitted both Petitioner and Gallman of the one count of armed robbery involving Kevin Miller. The jury returned verdicts of guilty on the remaining counts. Judge Cooper sentenced Petitioner to thirty (30) years for armed robbery, thirty (30) years concurrent for kidnapping and life without parole for the three counts of murder and for burglary first degree. A timely notice of intent to appeal was filed and the direct appeal perfected. Joseph L. Savitz, III represented Petitioner on direct appeal. On December 21, 2010, the South Carolina Court of Appeals affirmed the sentences and convictions. State v. Oliver, Op. No. 2010-UP-553 (S.C.Ct.App. filed December 21, 2010).

On March 31, 2011, Petitioner filed an application for post conviction relief. The State filed a return on February 1, 2012. On August 13, 2012, an evidentiary hearing was held before the Honorable R. Knox McMahon. David Belding represented Petitioner at the PCR hearing. Rob Corney was present on behalf of the State. In a written order signed September 25, 2013, Judge

McMahon denied relief and dismissed the application. A timely notice of intent to appeal was served on October 14, 2013. This petition for writ of certiorari follows.

ARGUMENT

Appellate counsel was ineffective in failing to raise on direct appeal the trial judge's admission at trial, over objection and in violation of Bruton, of statements made by a non-testifying jointly tried co-defendant, Dominic Gallman, to his girlfriend, Leticia Jones, implicating Appellant.

Petitioner and his co-defendant, Dominic Gallman, were found guilty in the robbery and shooting deaths of George Batie, Desiree Felder and Kevin Miller. Batie was a drug dealer. Felder lived with Batie and at times assisted him in the drug business. Miller was also a drug dealer. Batie and Miller were shot to death during a robbery at Batie's house. The State's evidence showed that Felder was taken from the house and shot in the woods at another location. A large amount of money and a large amount of cocaine was stolen during the robbery.

During pre-trial motions there was lengthy discussion about various statements posing Bruton¹ problems. (App. pp. 147-309). The judge ruled that the Bruton problems could be cured by redacting the co-defendant's name from the statement and replacing the name with "somebody else." Counsel for Petitioner objected to the redaction arguing that it did not cure the Bruton problem. (App. p.192 – 196). The trial judge overruled the objection. (App. p. 194, lines 3-5). During the pre-trial hearing there were no motions made in regard to the statement of Leticia Jones.

When the State called Leticia Jones as a witness counsel for co-defendant Gallman objected based on Crawford² and Bruton. (App. p. 1021, line 16 – p. 1022, lines 1-12). When asked by the trial judge if there were any Crawford or Bruton issues the prosecutor responded, "There potentially could be. I have instructed her – the testimony that she is going to give is information related to her by Mr. Gallman about Mr. Gallman and Mr. Oliver. I've instructed her not to refer to Mr. Oliver by name just like we've had other witnesses say Mr. Gallman and someone else." (App. p. 1-22, lines

¹ Bruton v. United States, 391 U.S. 123 (1968).

² Crawford v. Washington, 541 U.S. 36 (2004).

16-22). Counsel for Petitioner joined in the objection to Jones' testimony. (App. p. 1022, line 23 – p. 1023, lines 1-8).

Jones testified that she had been engaged to marry the co-defendant Dominic Gallman. (App. p. 1027, lines 6-16). Jones testified that she met Petitioner through Gallman. She testified that on Sunday morning September 4, 2005, Gallman came to the house, woke her up and was very upset. (App. p. 1030, line 1 – p. 1031, lines 1-14). Jones testified that Gallman told her:

That I was right about his friend, that he had gotten him into trouble and that – said, Leticia, listen to me. He said that – he said that he had gotten him into trouble and that he made him do something that he didn't want to do and that he didn't know what to do. He couldn't – he just was upset and that he didn't know how to handle it.

He said that his – his friend had – had some idea to make someone and that he didn't really know what was involved but he went with him and it just turned out to be not what he thought it was. He said they went to the house and that his friend, that they knocked on the door and somebody opened the door and his friend shot the guy that opened the door. And then they – that the guy he was with shot the other guy that was in the house and that then they were trying to rob the man and that the man wouldn't tell him where his – his money was, And so the guy he was with just flipped out and got really mad and angry and just shot the man. There was a lady there. I don't know if she was there or if she showed up later on.

(App. p. 1031, line 15 – p. 1032, lines 1-11). Counsel for Petitioner immediately objected based on Crawford. (App. p. 1032, lines 12-18). The judge overruled the objection. (App. p. 1032, line 19).

Jones went on to testify:

The person that he was with said they had to take her because she probably knew where – where the money was. And so he put her in the car and they drove with the lady. And I don't – I don't know what happened. But that person that he was with told him that he had gotten his hands dirty and he had to do the same thing and the was like crazy and he tried to hurt the lady and the Dominic had to stop him from him – from attacking the lady, from like raping her and stuff. But that he put the gun to his head and told him that if he didn't shoot the lady that he would shoot him. So Dominic said he didn't know what to do. And he just closed his eyes and pulled the trigger. And that was it.

(App. p. 1033, line 16 – p. 1034, lines 1-4).

At the conclusion of Jones' testimony counsel for Petitioner moved for a mistrial based on the fact that they did not have the opportunity to raise the Crawford and Bruton issues in regard to

this witness' testimony because they were unaware of her statement. (App. p. 1056, line 23 – p. 1057, lines 1-19). In her initial statements to police Jones denied any knowledge of the crimes. (App. p. 1043, lines 11-25). Counsel only became aware of Jones' new statement on Friday, December 7, 2007, after pre-trial hearings had been held on Monday December 3, 2007. (App. p. 1022, lines 4-12; p. 1008, line 1). The judge denied the mistrial motion based on the fact that his rulings in regard to the present witness were consistent with his rulings earlier in the trial in regard to other witness statements. (App. p. 1057, line 20 – p. 1058, lines 1-12). Counsel renewed the objection specifically as to Bruton stating, "Thank you, sir. And I understand your ruling. I'm not arguing with it. And I just – frankly, it's been now six days, and I forget what our discussion consisted of back when we discussed Bruton, Crawford as it related to what Your Honor has said just now as far as not identifying anyone. I hope I was on the record at that point in time as indicating that did not satisfy Bruton." (App. p. 1058, lines 13-20). The trial judge erred in admitting the redacted statement co-defendant Gallman made to Jones. The admission of the co-defendant's statement violated the Confrontation Clause pursuant to Bruton; State v. Henson, 407 S.C. 154, 754 S.E.2d 508 (2014); State v. Holder, 382 S.C. 278, 676 S.E.2d 690 (2009); United States v. Truslow, 530 F.3d 257 (4th Cir. 1975); United States v. Richards, 241 F.3d 335 (3d Cir. 2001).

The Confrontation Clause of the Sixth Amendment, as applied to the states through the Fourteenth Amendment, guarantees criminal defendants the right to confront and cross-examine witnesses against them. Richardson v. Marsh, 481 U.S. 200, 206 (1987). The United States Supreme Court held that admission of a non-testifying co-defendant's statement that expressly inculcates the defendant violates the defendant's Confrontation Clause in a joint trial. Bruton v. United States, 391 U.S. 123, 136-137 (1968). Additionally, a limiting instruction is not sufficient to

remove any prejudice to the defendant. Id. The Supreme Court recognized that in some cases the use of redactions may comply with Bruton. Richardson, 481 U.S. at 208-209.

Examining this issue again, the Supreme Court held that redactions that are simply replacements of the defendant's name with a blank space, a symbol, or a word such as "deleted," are not sufficient. Gray v. Maryland, 523 U.S. 185, 197 (1998). The Court explained the necessity of looking at the kind of inferences necessary to connect the defendant, not the fact of the existence of the inference, in order to determine the applicability of Bruton. Id. at 196. In Gray, the inferences drawn from the statements, even in redacted form, "obviously refer[red] directly to someone, often obviously the defendant, and which involve[d] inferences that a jury ordinarily could make immediately." Id. at 196. Such statements are forbidden under Bruton. Id. at 196-197.

In Holder, 382 S.C. at 285-286, 676 S.E.2d at 694, the South Carolina Supreme Court held a trial court erred in admitting a statement by Holder's non-testifying co-defendant concerning injuries to the victim where the statement was redacted to replace the defendant's name with "she." The "jury could readily determine that the statement referred to her as she was the only female defendant." Id. In a similar case, State v. Johnson, 390 S.C. 600, 703 S.E.2d 217 (2010), our Supreme Court held the trial court erred in admitting a redacted statement by a non-testifying co-defendant in which a nickname was blacked out with magic marker. The redaction eliminated the words "and Knock." Id. at 605, 703 S.E.2d at 219. Although no evidence was introduced to indicate the defendant was known as "Knock," the statement clearly referred to another person. Additionally, the officer testified that based on this statement, he arrested the defendant. Id. at 606, 703 S.E.2d at 220. This "effectively told the jury that [the co-defendant]'s unredacted statement named [the defendant]." Id.

In Henson, 407 S.C. at 166, 754 S.E.2d at 514 the South Carolina Supreme Court wrote, “Like Holder and these cases from other jurisdictions, here the jury could infer from the face of Reid’s confession without relying on any other evidence, that the confession referred to an incriminated Henson.” In the present case the jury could easily infer from the face of Gallman’s statement, without relying on other evidence, that the incriminating statement referred to Petitioner Oliver. Oliver and Gallman were the only two principals on trial and the State’s theory was that they acted together. The fact that the statement was made to a third person, Leticia Jones, as opposed to law enforcement is of no consequence. See United States v. Truslow, 530 F.3d 257 (4th Cir. 1975).

The trial judge erred in admitting co-defendant Gallman’s statements to Jones implicating petitioner. The error was not harmless. Appellate counsel, however, did not raise the issue on direct appeal. On direct appeal appellate counsel argued that the trial court erred in admitting in evidence a written statement by Tatanisha Robinson in violation of State v. Gullege, 277 S.C. 368, 287 S.E.2d 488 (1982). State v. Oliver, Op. No. 2010-UP-553 (S.C.Ct.App. filed December 21, 2010). The South Carolina Court of Appeals found extrinsic evidence of the prior statement by Robinson was admissible because the witness admitted making the statement but denied the substance of the statement. Appellate counsel was ineffective in failing to raise the Bruton issue.

In Bennett v. State, 383 S.C. 303, 309, 680 S.E.2d 273, 276 (2009), the South Carolina Supreme Court wrote, “Generally, in analyzing a claim of ineffective assistance of appellate counsel, this Court applies the Strickland test just as it would when analyzing a claim of ineffective assistance of trial counsel. See Southerland v. State, 337 S.C. 610, 616, 524 S.E.2d 833, 836 (1999). Thus, in this case, we ask 1) whether appellate counsel's performance was deficient, and 2) whether Respondent was prejudiced by appellate counsel's deficient

performance.” (footnote omitted). In Southerland, 337 S.C. at 615-616, 524 S.E.2d at 836, the South Carolina Supreme Court wrote, “A defendant is constitutionally entitled to the effective assistance of appellate counsel.... First, the burden of proof is on petitioner to show that counsel's performance was deficient as measured by the standard of reasonableness under prevailing professional norms. Second, the petitioner must prove that he or she was prejudiced by such deficiency to the extent of there being a reasonable probability that, but for counsel's unprofessional errors, the result of the **proceeding** would have been different.”

Appellate counsel was deficient in failing to raise the Bruton issue. Petitioner was prejudiced by appellate counsel's deficient performance. There is a reasonable probability that but for appellate counsel's deficient performance, Petitioner's conviction and sentence would have been reversed on direct appeal and the case remanded for a new trial. Petitioner seeks this relief in post conviction relief.

During the PCR hearing petitioner testified, “One bigger thing is that my – my appellate counsel didn't – he was ineffective. He was super ineffective for not even hearing my voice.” (App. p. 2445, lines 11-13). Petitioner did not specifically testify that appellate counsel was ineffective in failing to raise the Bruton issue. Instead, Petitioner alleged that trial counsel was ineffective in failing to timely object to the testimony of Letisha Jones. (App. pp. 2514-2519). The order of dismissal does not address the ineffective assistance of appellate counsel claim. In footnote two of the order of dismissal the PCR judge wrote, “Applicant did not raise any allegation that appellate counsel was ineffective for failing to raise this issue on direct appeal if it were properly preserved at trial.” (App. p. 2515). In the order of dismissal the PCR judge found that trial counsel timely objected to the testimony of Leticia Jones and the issue was preserved for appellate review. (App. pp. 2514-2519). The PCR judge wrote, “First, this Court finds no