STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
IN THE SUPREME COURT

---

Appeal from Richland County  
Court of Common Pleas  
The Honorable R. Knox McMahon, Circuit Court Judge

Appellate Case No. 2013 – 002211

**RECEIVED**

NOV 17 2014

**S.C. Supreme Court**

STANLEY OLIVER, #192110,

Petitioner,

v.

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA,

Respondent.

---

**RETURN TO PETITION FOR WRIT OF CERTIORARI**

---

ALAN WILSON  
Attorney General

J. CLAYTON MITCHELL  
Assistant Attorney General  
SC Bar #101443

Post Office Box 11549  
Columbia, SC 29211  
(803) 734-3737

ATTORNEYS FOR RESPONDENT

**

## STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Petitioner is presently confined in the South Carolina Department of Corrections pursuant to orders of commitment of the Clerk of Court for Richland County. Petitioner was indicted at the November 2005 term of the Richland County Grand Jury for First Degree Burglary, two (2) counts of Kidnapping, two (2) counts of Armed Robbery and three (3) counts of Murder (2005-GS-40-11411 through -11417; 11582). (App. p. 2355-66). Petitioner was represented by Douglas Strickler, Esquire, and Mary LaFave, Esquire. On December 3, 2007, Petitioner proceeded to trial before the Honorable G. Thomas Cooper, Jr. After a twelve (12) day trial, the trial judge granted Petitioner's motion for direct verdict on one (1) count of Kidnapping. Petitioner was thereafter convicted by the jury of the remaining charges as indicted and was sentenced as follows: thirty (30) years imprisonment for Armed Robbery, thirty (30) years imprisonment for the remaining Kidnapping charge, and life without parole for each Murder and First Degree Burglary charge, all to run concurrently. (App. p. 2367-72).

A notice of appeal was filed, which was perfected by Joseph L. Savitz, III, Esquire, of the South Carolina Commission on Indigent Defense. The court of appeals affirmed Petitioner's conviction. State v. Oliver, Unpublished Op. No. 2010-UP-553 (S.C. Ct. App. filed December 21, 2010). The remittitur was sent on January 24, 2011.

Petitioner filed an application for post-conviction relief (PCR) on March 31, 2011. (App. p. 2373-78). An evidentiary hearing convened on August 13, 2012, before the Honorable R. Knox McMahon. David Belding, Esquire, represented Petitioner, and the State was represented by Robert D. Corney, Esquire. Judge McMahon denied Petitioner relief by order filed on October 9, 2012. (App. p. 2506-30). Petitioner filed a notice of appeal and a Petition for Writ of Certiorari. This Return follows.

## STANDARD OF REVIEW

The proper standard of review of a post-conviction relief evidentiary hearing is whether “any evidence of probative value” exists to sustain the post-conviction relief judge's findings. Cherry v. State, 300 S.C. 115, 386 S.E.2d 624 (1989). In a post-conviction relief proceeding, the Petitioner bears the burden of proving the allegations in their application. Butler v. State, 286 S.C. 441, 334 S.E.2d 813 (1985).

## ARGUMENT

### **Certiorari is not warranted where the allegation of ineffective assistance of appellate counsel was not raised before the PCR Court and was not ruled upon in the order of dismissal.**

Petitioner asserts that appellate counsel was ineffective in his representation. Petitioner argues that appellate counsel was deficient in not raising and making an argument that testimony from Leticia Jones was admitted in violation of Bruton v. United States, 391 U.S. 123 (1968). Petitioner concedes that this argument is not preserved for this Court's review as PCR counsel did not raise this issue to the PCR Court. (PWC p. 10). PCR counsel also failed to file a Rule 59(e), SCRCF, when the order of dismissal failed to address the allegation of ineffective assistance of appellate counsel. After conceding that the issue is not preserved, Petitioner then argues that PCR counsel was ineffective in not raising this issue. Petitioner argues that this Court has not yet had the opportunity to address the continued validity of Aice v. State, 305 S.C. 448, 409 S.E.2d 392 (1991), in light of the United States Supreme Court opinion in Martinez v. Ryan, 566 U.S. \_\_\_, 132 S. Ct. 1309, 182 L.Ed.2d 272 (2012). This issue is without merit as it is clearly not preserved for this court's review and is at odds with this Court's opinion in Kelly v. State, 404 S.C. 365, 745 S.E.2d 377 (2013).

The PCR Court found trial counsel was not deficient in any aspect of their representation. The PCR Court ruled that trial counsel properly objected to Jones's testimony by making a motion *in limine* to exclude the testimony based on potential confrontation clause issues that were anticipated. It further held that Petitioner did not raise any allegation that appellate counsel was ineffective. (App. p. 2515). It is of note that appellate counsel, Savitz, did not testify at the PCR hearing. The record is also devoid of any allegation of ineffective assistance of appellate counsel.

**A. The issue of ineffective assistance of appellate counsel is not preserved for review.**

It is well settled that an issue that has not been presented to or passed upon by trial judge will not be considered on appeal. State v. Gee, 262 S.C. 373, 204 S.E.2d 727 (1974). If an issue is raised but not ruled upon, it is not preserved for appeal. State v. Watts, 321 S.C. 158, 467 S.E.2d 272 (1996). Only a matter that has been ruled on below can be reviewed, otherwise, the appellate court would be exercising original jurisdiction. Gee, 262 S.C. 373, 204 S.E.2d 727. See Staubes v. City of Folly Beach, 339 S.C. 406, 412, 529 S.E.2d 543, 546 (2000) (“It is well-settled that an issue cannot be raised for the first time on appeal, but must have been raised to and ruled upon by the trial court to be preserved for appellate review.”); State v. Sheppard, 391 S.C. 415 --, 706 S.E.2d 16, 20 (2011) (“Our law is clear that an issue may not be raised for the first time on appeal.”); Ion, L.L.C. v. Town of Mt. Pleasant, 338 S.C. 406, 422, 526 S.E.2d 716, 724 (2000) (holding an appellate must present both his issues and arguments to the lower court and obtain a ruling before presenting issues and arguments on appeal). Issue preservation rules are meant to enable the lower court to rule properly after it has considered all relevant facts, law, and arguments. Herron v. Century BMW, 395 S.C 461, 719 S.E.2d 640 (2011).

Petitioner concedes this issue is not preserved for this Court’s review. The allegation of ineffective assistance of counsel was not including in his pleadings. Nor was there any testimony presented concerning appellate counsel’s failure to raise any Bruton or Crawford v. Washington, 541 U.S. 36, 53-54, 124 S. Ct. 1354 (2004) issues. The Final Order of Dismissal included a footnote which stated: “Applicant did **not** raise any allegation that appellate counsel was ineffective for failing to raise this issue on direct appeal if it were properly preserved at trial.” (App. p. 10, n. 2) (emphasis in original). Petitioner also failed to file a Rule 59(e), SCRCPP, in an attempt to have the PCR Court rule upon the issue. This Court should find this allegation is not

preserved.

**B. Appellate counsel was not ineffective in failing to argue that Jones's testimony was in violation of Bruton as the case is inapplicable because codefendant's statements to Jones were not testimonial.**

Assuming *arguendo* that this Court finds the issue of ineffective assistance of appellate counsel preserved, it is wholly without merit.

A defendant is entitled to effective assistance of appellate counsel. Tisdale v. State, 357 S.C. 474, 476, 594 S.E.2d 166, 167 (2004), citing Southerland v. State, 337 S.C. 610, 615, 524 S.E.2d 833, 836 (1999). To prevail on a claim of ineffective assistance of appellate counsel, an applicant must establish both deficiency and prejudice. Southerland, 337 S.C. at 616, 524 S.E.2d at 836. If an applicant can establish both deficiency according to professional norms and prejudice to the extent that he would have been successful on appeal, he is entitled to a new trial. See Ezell v. State, 345 S.C. 312, 316, 548 S.E.2d 852, 854 (2001); Southerland, 337 S.C. 615-16, 524 S.E.2d at 836. See also Simpkins v. State, 303 S.C. 364, 401 S.E.2d 142 (1991) (post-conviction relief of a new trial granted based on appellate counsel's failure to raise an issue on appeal that constituted reversible error).

“Although it is possible to bring a successful ineffective assistance of appellate counsel claim based on failure to raise a particular issue on direct appeal, the Supreme Court has reiterated that it is ‘difficult to demonstrate that counsel was incompetent.’” United States v. Mason, No. 3:06–607–CMC, 2012 WL 5845807 at \*1 (D. S.C. Nov. 19, 2012) (quoting Smith v. Robbins, 528 U.S. 259, 288, 120 S. Ct. 746, 765 (2000)). While appellate counsel is required to provide effective assistance of counsel, “appellate counsel is *not* required to raise every non-frivolous issue that is presented by the record.” Thrift v. State, 302 S.C. 535, 539, 397 S.E.2d 523, 526 (1990), citing Jones v. Barnes, 463 U.S. 745 (1983). “For judges to second-guess

reasonable professional judgments and impose on . . . counsel a duty to raise every ‘colorable’ claim suggested by a client would disserve the very goal of vigorous and effective advocacy . . .” Jones, 463 U.S. at 754. Additionally, our Supreme Court has expressly rejected the notion that appellate counsel has an obligation to raise all meritorious issues on appeal. Tisdale v. State, 357 S.C. 474, 476, 594 S.E.2d 166, 167 (2004). “‘Generally, only when ignored issues are clearly stronger than those presented, will the presumption of effective assistance of counsel be overcome.’” Smith v. Robbins, 528 U.S. at 288, 120 S. Ct. at 765 (quoting Gray v. Greer, 800 F.2d 644, 646 (7th Cir. 1986)).

“To establish prejudice relating to the actions of appellate counsel, Defendant must establish a reasonable probability that, but for his counsel's unreasonable failure to include a particular issue on appeal, he would have prevailed on his appeal.” United States v. Mason, 2012 WL 5845807 at \*1 (citing Smith v. Robbins, 528 U.S. at 285-86, 120 S. Ct. at 764).

#### Relevant Trial Testimony

Petitioner takes issue with the following testimony where codefendant Gallman tearfully confessed to his girlfriend, Leticia Jones, telling her:

[s]he was right about his friend, that he had gotten him into trouble and that - - said, Leticia, listen to me. He said that - - he said that he had gotten him into trouble and that he made him do something that he didn't want to do and that he didn't know what to do. He couldn't - - he just was upset and that he didn't know how to handle it.

He said that his - - his friend had - - had some idea to make someone and that he didn't really know what was involved but he went with him and it just turned out to be not what he thought it was.

He said that they went to the house and that his friend, that they knocked on the door and somebody opened the door and his friend shot the guy that opened the door. And then they - - that the guy he was with shot the other guy that was in the house and that then they were trying to rob the man and that the man wouldn't tell him where - - his money was. And so the guy he was with just flipped out and got really mad and angry and just shot the man. There was a lady there . . .

Codefendant Gallman also confessed to the murder of victim Felder:

The person that he was with said that they had to take her [Felder] in the car and they drove with the lady. And I don't know - - I don't know what happened. But that the person that he was with told him that he had gotten his hands dirty and he had to do the same thing and that the was like crazy and he tried to hurt the lady and that Dominic had to stop him from him - - from attacking the lady, from like raping her and stuff. But that he put the gun to his head and told him that if he didn't know what to do. And he had just closed his eyes and pulled the trigger. And that was it.

(App. p. 1031 – 1034).

### Discussion

The Confrontation Clause of the Sixth Amendment provides that “[i]n all criminal prosecutions, the accused shall enjoy the right . . . to be confronted with the witnesses against him.” This provision bars the admission of “testimonial statements of a witness who did not appear at trial unless he was unavailable to testify, and the defendant had had a prior opportunity for cross-examination.” Crawford v. Washington, 541 U.S. 36, 53-54, 124 S. Ct. 1354 (2004). A statement must be “testimonial” to be excludable under the Confrontation Clause. United States v. Dargan, 738 F.3d 643, 650 (4th Cir. 2013) (citing United States v. Udeozor, 515 F.3d 260, 268 (4th Cir. 2008)). “The primary determinant of a statement’s testimonial quality is ‘whether a reasonable person in the declarant’s position would have expected his statements to be used at trial.’” Id at 651 (internal citations omitted). In Bruton v. United States, the Supreme Court held that a defendant’s rights under the Confrontation Clause of the Sixth Amendment are violated by the admission of a non-testifying co-defendant’s confession that inculcates a defendant, even if a cautionary instruction is given. State v. Holder, 382 S.C. 278, 283, 676 S.E.2d 690, 693 (2009). “Bruton is simply irrelevant in the context of nontestimonial statements. Bruton espoused a prophylactic rule designed to prevent a specific type of Confrontation Clause violation.

Statements that do not implicate the Confrontation Clause, *a fortiori*, do not implicate Bruton.” Dargan 738 F.3d at 651. See Untied States v. Clark, 717 F.3d 790, 816 (10th Cir. 2013).

“Redaction had come into play as a tool to allow admission of a codefendant’s confession against the confessor in a joint trial. The point of redaction is to permit the confession to be used against the non-testifying confessor, while avoiding implicating his codefendants.” State v. Holmes, 342 S.C. 113, 119, 536 S.E.2d 671, 674 (2000). Thus, if, in a joint trial, a non-testifying codefendant’s statement is admitted, reference to the other named defendant must be redacted for the statement to be admissible. State v. Martin, 292 S.C. 437, 439, 357 S.E.2d 21, 22 (1987). Our case law has upheld redaction using neutral terms. See State v. Garrett, 350 S.C. 613, 620-21, 567 S.E.2d 523, 526 (Ct. App. 2002) (use of “another guy” in redaction allowed).

Respondent submits that Petitioner has not presented any evidence that appellate counsel was deficient. Counsel Savitz did not testify at the PCR hearing, but it can be presumed that he rendered adequate assistance and made all significant decisions in the exercise of reasonable professional judgment. Strickland, 466 U.S. at 668, 104 S. Ct. at 2064. See Jackson v. State, 329 S.C. 345, 354, 495 S.E.2d 768, 772 (1998) (speculation and conjecture will not support a finding of ineffective assistance of counsel). Nevertheless, the Bruton issue had no merit on appeal. Codefendant Gallman’s oral statement to Jones is nontestimonial and, as such, Bruton is not applicable. Gallman confessed to his girlfriend the morning after the incident in the confines of her home. (App. p. 1030). Given the fact that Gallman’s statement to Jones was made outside the investigatory or judicial context, the statement is clearly nontestimonial. See State v. Davis, 371 S.C. 170, 178, 638 S.E.2d 57, 61 (2006). This testimony is also admissible under Rule 804(b)(3), SCRE, as a hearsay exception as a statement against interest. See Crawford 541 U.S. at 60 n.9 (“The Clause also does not bar the use of testimonial statements for purposes other than

establishing the truth of the matter asserted.” (citing Tennessee v. Street, 471 U.S. 409 (1985))).

Regardless, even if this Court were to find Gallman’s statement testimonial, the trial court took precautions in ensuring that Petitioner’s name was not used. Jones never referred specifically to Petitioner, but just to “his friend,” and “the person that he was with.” This avoided any Bruton violation. This is for two specific reasons, one, the neutral term itself, and two, the fact that no other information specifically identified Petitioner.

**C. Martinez is not applicable to state PCR actions.**

Martinez’s interpretation of federal laws applicable to federal habeas corpus actions has no effect on South Carolina’s interpretation and application of its Post-Conviction Relief statute. S.C. Code Ann. § 17-27-10 to –160. Therefore, the South Carolina Supreme Court’s opinion in Aice v. State is still applicable to a claim raised in a subsequent state PCR action alleging ineffective assistance of prior collateral counsel. See Aice, 305 S.C. at 451, 409 S.E.2d at 394 (“The contention that prior PCR counsel was ineffective is not *per se* a ‘sufficient reason’ warranting a successive PCR application under 17-27-90.”). The South Carolina Supreme Court has found – in a published order – that “the holding in Martinez is limited to federal habeas corpus review and is not applicable to state post-conviction relief actions.” Kelly v. State, 404 S.C. 365, 745 S.E.2d 377 (2013).

It is also of significant note that Martinez does not apply to ineffective assistance of appellate counsel claims. The Martinez court noted that Coleman v. Thompson, 501 U.S. 722 (1991), involved alleged ineffective assistance of appellate PCR counsel and not trial counsel; Martinez did not change the Coleman holding with regard to procedural default based on failure of appellate PCR counsel to raise an issue. Martinez, 132 S. Ct. at 1316. “The holding in this case does not concern attorney errors in other kinds of proceedings, including appeals from

initial-review collateral proceedings.” Id at 1320. So, even if this Court were to abrogate its holding in Kelly, Petitioner’s argument is at direct odds with the Supreme Court’s holding in Martinez.

Therefore, Petitioner’s argument is clearly not preserved but also lacks merit under a thorough analysis. The PCR Court’s ruling should be upheld.


**CONCLUSION**

For the reasons stated above, this Court should deny the Petition for Writ of Certiorari and affirm the PCR Court’s ruling. Should this Court grant Certiorari, Respondent requests permission under the rules to fully brief the issue discussed above.